
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU 

 
 

 
 

Housing Services Cabinet 
Committee 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Members of the Housing Services Cabinet Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are 
summoned to attend a meeting to be held at the Council Chamber, Civic Centre, Windmill Street, 
Gravesend DA12 1AU on Monday, 14 November 2022 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in 
the following agenda is proposed to be transacted. 
 
 

 
S Walsh 
Service Manager (Communities) 
 
 

Agenda 
 

Part A 
Items likely to be considered in Public 

1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Minutes  (Pages 3 - 8) 

3. Declarations of Interest   

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the Agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public  

 

5. Kent Home Choice procurement update  PRESENTATION 

6. Draft House of Multiple Occupation (HMO) Licensing Policy and Charging 
Structure  

(Pages 9 - 30) 

7. Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Two 2022-23  (Pages 31 - 40) 

8. Draft Housing Management Annual Report 2021/22  (Pages 41 - 54) 

9. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter or urgency.  

 



10. Exclusion   

 To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of the business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act 
 

Part B  
 

Items likely to be considered in private  
 
None 

 

 
 
 
Members 
 
Cllr Jenny Wallace (Chair) 
Cllr Christina Rolles (Vice-Chair) 
 
Councillors: Ejaz Aslam 

Baljit Hayre 
Leslie Hills 
Leslie Hoskins 
Jordan Meade 
Lyn Milner 
Leslie Pearton 
Elizabeth Mulheran 
 

 
Substitutes: To be notified 
 
 
 
 



1 

Housing Services Cabinet Committee 
 

Tuesday, 6 September 2022 7.30 pm 
 
 
Present: 
 
Cllr Jenny Wallace (Chair) 
Cllr Christina Rolles (Vice-Chair) 
 
Councillors: Ejaz Aslam 

Baljit Hayre 
Leslie Hills 
Leslie Hoskins 
Lyn Milner 
Leslie Pearton 
Elizabeth Mulheran 
Emma Elliott 
 

Daniel Killian 
Jody Bulman 
Nicole Arthur 
Carlie Simmonds 
Karen Gingles 

Director 
Service Manager (Housing Landlord Services) 
Service Manager (Housing Operations) 
Committee Services Manager (Minutes) 
Committee Services Officer (Minutes) 

 

44. Apologies for Absence 
 
An apology of absence was received from Cllr Jordan Meade.  Cllr Emma Elliott attended as 
his substitute. 
 

45. Minutes 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on Monday 6 June 2022 were signed by the Chair. 
 

46. Declarations of Interest 
 
No declarations of interests were made. 
 

47. Draft Disabled Adaptions Policy 
 
The Service Manager (Housing Operations) presented the draft Aids and Adaptations Policy 
for Council Tenants.  The purpose of the report was to inform the Committee of the proposed 
Aids & Adaptation Policy for Council Tenants and seek comments prior to the policy being 
agreed by the Cabinet Member for Housing Services. 
 
The Service Manager (Housing Operations) informed the Committee that the policy, 
replaced the Housing Policy for Discretionary Disabled Adaptations which previously sat 
outside of the Housing Operations Service and under the previous Housing Partnership 
Manager. Responsibility for the policy transferred to the Service Manager (Housing 
Operations) last year.  The previous policy was up for renewal in 2022 so creating the 
proposed policy, gave the opportunity to improve information for both staff and tenants. 
 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Housing Services Cabinet Committee 6.09.2022 

2 

The policy outlined how the Council will support tenants to remain, as long as possible, 
independently in their current home and also in carrying out essential daily activities which 
may be hampered by long-term health issues or disability, or, if this was not possible or 
practical, to assist them in finding suitable alternative accommodation. The policy also 
confirmed the Council’s commitment to meeting the needs of tenants, as well as effectively 
using the Council’s existing housing stock and ensuring a fair distribution of aids and 
adaptations within finite resources. Whilst the needs of tenants will be given proper 
consideration, it was inevitable that the use of the Council’s housing stock must additionally 
be considered in parallel to ensure that all residents were being treated fairly, particularly 
where the nature of the adaptation was substantial. 
 
The proposed new policy: 
 

 stated clearly how new aids and adaptation requests would be assessed, considered, 
prioritised, approved or rejected; 

 made better use of existing adaptation in Council properties through the reallocation 
of those properties to those with needs most closely meeting the property attributes; 

 specified threshold indicators and limits related to types of adaptations; 

 indicated what support could be offered in terms of re-housing to more suitable 
accommodation when an option appraisal made the application nonviable for the 
existing dwelling or its occupants; and 

 stated clearly which adaptations would not be funded. 
 
The Service Manager (Housing Operations) advised that the policy covers two areas, 
adapting existing homes and allocation of and best use of existing stock currently part or 
fully adapted to meet housing demand. The policy also introduced a change in the 
application process for adaptations. Previously a tenant would contact the Occupational 
Therapist directly and the majority of the time without the Council being notified, until the 
report and recommendations was sent through. Going forward, in order to enquire or apply 
for an assessment for a disabled adaptation to a Council property, tenants should contact 
their Housing Officer in the first instance, who will discuss with the tenant their current 
circumstances and will arrange an initial visit to ensure there aren’t any safeguarding 
concerns, discuss whether a referral to the Occupational Therapy Service was required and 
if they need any support undertaking the referral. The new improved policy and change in 
process will ensure that tenants have better support in accessing the service, clearer 
guidance as to what the Council will and won’t do and ensure the Council uses its assets in 
the best way. 
 
The Committee commended the Service Manager (Housing Operations) for a 
comprehensive policy. 
 
Members expressed concern that if a property was no longer suitable for the occupant and 
with the current higher demand for housing, residents would feel under pressure to move.  
The Service Manager (Housing Operations) assured the Committee, that no one would be 
under any pressure or forced to move.  Members were advised that the Holding Hands 
Policy (downsizing scheme) would also be reviewed, to be more bespoke to the individual.  
The Service Manager (Housing Operations) also highlighted that as part of the Holding 
Hands Policy, there was discretionary financial assistance for downsizing.  This was to assist 
with the cost of moving if it was deemed appropriate for the individual. 
 
The Committee noted the report and accompanying policy. 
 

Page 4



Housing Services Cabinet Committee 6.09.2022 

3 

 

48. Social Housing White Paper - Draft Tenant Satisfaction Measures 
 
The Service Manager (Housing Landlord Services) presented the Social Housing White 
Paper – Tenant Satisfaction Measures Report.  The purpose of the report was to provide the 
Committee with an update following the previous report submitted to the Committee in March 
2021. The report focused on the roll out of the Tenant Satisfaction Measures that would be 
implemented, following The Social Housing White Paper 2020. 
 
In December 2021, the Regulator for Social Housing launched a consultation on 
proposed Tenant Satisfaction Measures. The aim of these measures 
was to provide residents and the Regulator with clear and comparable information about a 
landlords’ performance. This data would help residents hold their landlords to account and 
would also be used by the Regulator in their role of assessing how well social housing 
landlords in England were doing at providing good quality homes and services. 
 
Currently, there were 22 tenant satisfaction measures that would be addressed. 10 of the 22 
measures would be directly measured using data already collected by the service, such as 
how many homes meet the Decent Homes Standard set by Government or how many 
complaints that officers responded to within the Housing Ombudsman’s Code timescales. 
The remaining 12 would be measured by surveying tenants to establish their perception of 
the service. 
 
It was proposed that the survey to residents would be available in a variety of formats such 
as by post, email, phone, face to face, online and social media etc making it accessible to 
all.  Data would be collected from April 2023 and be collated and presented to the Regulator 
in April 2024.  Going forward, the service will be responsible for conducting tenant 
perception surveys to collect the data for the tenant satisfaction measures on a yearly basis. 
 
The Service Manager (Housing Landlord Services) informed the Committee that to prepare 
for the official resident survey being issued in April next year, a test run of the satisfaction 
survey would be carried out beforehand.  This was an exercise that the Regulator had 
suggested would be best practice.  From the test run, results would be collated and an 
action plan created to ensure that when the survey begins in April 2023, any improvements 
to the format and/or service could be made. 
 
The Committee considered the report and highlighted the following:- 

 

 the test run will allow the Council to understand its tenants’ views on the homes and 
services it provides with any areas highlighted being considered for inclusion in the 
action plan. It will also allow the Council to promote/make tenants aware of what it is 
doing in order to change their perception; 

 what action is taken when a tenant is not keeping their home to a good standard. 
Members were informed that estate inspections were carried out on a regular basis 
and if the home was to be found badly neglected then the Housing Officer would 
support the tenant to improve the situation with further action be taken if required; 

 whether the survey could be extended to private tenants.  The Service Manager 
(Housing Landlord Services) advised that the survey related to Social Housing 
tenants only, but if successful, government may extend to the private housing sector 
in the future; and 

 would the test run offer sufficient time to rectify any issues prior to the survey going 
live in April 2023.  The Service Manager (Housing Landlord Services) advised this 

Page 5



Housing Services Cabinet Committee 6.09.2022 

4 

would be dependant on the size of the issues, as larger issues may require a longer-
term plan. 

 
The Committee noted the report. 
 

49. Corporate Register of Partnerships - Housing 
 
The Director (Housing) presented the Corporate Register of Partnership – July 2022.  The 
purpose of the report was to inform Members of the Council’s involvement in partnerships, 
that were within the remit of Housing Services Cabinet Committee. 
 
The Director (Housing) referred Members to appendix 2 of the report which outlined the 
current partnerships that most directly related to the work of the Committee.  Partnerships 
and shared working arrangements were reviewed on an annual basis. The current 
partnerships were:- 
 

 Energy Saving Trust Advice Centre (ESTAC) (Careline Services) 

 Greater South East Energy Hub 

 Kent Energy Efficiency Partnership (KEEP) 

 Kent Home Choice 

 Kent Housing Group 

 Kent and Medway Sustainable Energy Partnership (KMSEP) 

 Kent ‘No Use Empty’ Initiative 

 Rough Sleeping Partnership 
 
The Committee noted the report. 
 

50. Corporate Performance Report: Q1 2022-23 
 
The Director (Housing) presented the Corporate Performance Update: Quarter One 2022-
23.  The purpose of the report was to present Members of the Housing Services Committee 
with an update against the Performance Management Framework, as introduced within the 
Council’s Corporate Plan, for Quarter One 2022-23 (April to June 2022). 
 
The Director (Housing) highlighted the following:- 
 

 PI 17 – Total number of private sector homes brought up to standard 
 
The outturn in the first quarter was 0 which related to category one hazards that had 
been identified in private properties. However, Members were advised that during the 
first quarter the service had issued 7 Notices to 7 properties, following identification 
of 25 category 2 hazards. 

 

 PI 18 – Average time taken to re-let Council housing (days) 
 
It was noted that the average time taken to re-let Council Housing had reduced to 28 
days. 

 

 PI 20 – Total number of households in temporary accommodation 
 

Page 6



Housing Services Cabinet Committee 6.09.2022 

5 

In the first quarter there had been a significant increase, with the number of 
households in temporary accommodation having risen to 185.  Members were 
advised that there were several contributing factors to this rise including COVID-19, 
domestic abuse, inflation and the Ukraine settlement scheme etc. 

 
The Director (Housing) stated that sadly with the impending housing crisis, there was 
no sign of this figure reducing.  There was significant work taking place regarding the 
best way forward and that data was currently being collated as all other local 
authorities in Kent were in a similar situation. 

 
It was suggested that it would be useful for the Committee to be provided with a 
breakdown/statistics on the reasons for the demand on temporary accommodation. 
The Director (Housing) advised that he would explore if this could be provided to the 
Committee in future performance reports as part of the contextual update. 

 
The Committee noted the report. 
 
 
Close of meeting 
 
The meeting ended at 8.00 pm 
 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Classification: Public 

Key Decision: No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Housing Services Cabinet Committee  

Date: 14 November 2022  

Reporting officer: Victoria May, Service Manager (Housing Options) 
Clare Reynolds, Private Sector Housing Manager  
 

Subject: Standalone HMO Licencing Policy including review of fees, 
enforcement fees and statutory and non-statutory fees.  

Purpose and summary of report:  

To provide Housing Services Cabinet Committee with an opportunity to make comments on 
the expanded Houses of Multiple Occupation (HMO) Licencing Policy.  This will ensure a 
consistent and robust approach whilst also ensuring compliance with the need to split the HMO 
licensing fees into two separate elements, A and B payments following case law.   
 
In addition, this report also provides the Housing Services Cabinet Committee with the updated 
fees matrix for Private Sector Housing enforcement activity to ensure a consistence and 
transparent approach to charging fees for both statutory and non-statutory inspections that will 
form part of the Council’s annual review of fees and charges.  
  

Recommendations: 

1. For Members to discuss and provide feedback on the HMO Licencing Policy prior to 
being ratified by the Cabinet Member for Housing Services.  

Key Implications: 

Item Implications 

Legal The Council has a statutory duty to licence and enforce HMOs.  
The proposed charging and enforcement is in line with the 
Housing Act 2004 and Section 49. 

Finance and Value for 
Money 

The report is intended to provide data that enables Management 
Team to understand the councils position when dealing with 
Houses of Multiple Occupation.  The report details an income 
stream that is demand led and not targeted (or guaranteed).  
However, money accrued from HMO Licensing will go into the 
general fund.  Money for both HMO and Section 49 (enforcement) 
is not a ringfenced income and therefore offers some flexibility 
with how this can be used.  

Corporate Plan In line with the objectives of the Corporate Plan 2019-23 strategic 
objective #1 People, the private sector housing work is a statutory 
requirement and under commitments will fulfil the ‘enforce a high 
quality of private housing’ and ‘provide pro-active, supportive and 
financially efficient housing service’ and ’safeguards / protects 

Page 9 Agenda Item 6



2 

residents including the most vulnerable’.  This will also fit into #2 
Place ‘Improve residents wellbeing’ 

Climate Change  When considering the suitability of an HMO, good quality electrics 
in line with the energy efficiency guidelines will be considered as 
well as providing advice to landlords about LED lighting and timed 
Switches if they are not already in place. 

 

1.     Background 

1.1 The Private Sector Housing Team (PSH) provides services, support and advice to 
privately renting tenants, homeowners and private landlords. Their primary aim is 
to work towards ensuring the private rented tenure residents are living in 
accommodation that is well maintained, safe and warm and to improve poor housing 
conditions which impact upon the health and protection of residents.  In addition, 
the service administers Disabled Facilities Grants, licences certain Houses in 
Multiple Occupation, Caravan sites and will soon be managing empty homes within 
the borough. 

1.2 Private Sector Housing has an established Housing Enforcement Policy and 
Housing Assistance Policy and whilst the current HMO Licensing Scheme is 
reference within the Councils enforcement policy, best practice is to have a 
standalone policy.   

1.3 On 31 July 2018, new case law emerged R (Gaskin) v Richmond-upon Thames 
LBC [2018] held that schemes for the licensing of houses in multiple occupation 
('HMOs') are authorisation schemes, within the meaning of EU Directive The 
consequence of this decision is that the fee for an HMO licence under Part 2 of the 
2004 Act and for a licence to let other accommodation under Part 3, must be levied 
in two, separate parts, in accordance with the type A scheme.  

1.4 In July 2017 the Local Government Association (LGA) published guidance to help 
councils understand the breadth of the issues that need to be considered when 
setting local licence fees.   

2. Current Position – HMO Licencing  

2.1 As referenced above, the Council does not have a dedicated HMO Licensing Policy 
in place and although HMOs are cited in the current Housing Enforcement Policy 
(Private Sector), it is best practice to have standalone policy to ensure a consistent 
and transparent approach.  

2.2 In introducing a standalone HMO licencing policy, an extensive amount of work has 
been undertaken with regards to fees and charges for HMO’s. Currently, the service 
charges one fee for new applications and renewals, which is £540. The service does 
not charge reduced fees for renewal of HMO licences 

2.3 In reviewing the fees and charges, neighbouring boroughs fees have also been 
reviewed as set out in the following table:  

 

 

 

Page 10



3 

Local Authority New HMO Licence Renewal HMO Licence 

Gravesham  £540.00 £540.00 

Medway  £1,106.70 £619.00 

Dartford £860.00 £645.00 

Sevenoaks  £654.00 £412.00 

 

3. Current Position – Housing Enforcement (Private Sector) 

3.1 Alongside creating a standalone HMO policy, the existing fee structure within the 
Housing Enforcement Policy (Private Sector, ratified by Housing Services 
Committee in September 2019), has been undertaken. Historically, whilst possible, 
the service has not charged for any enforcement activity when serving an 
Improvement Notice, Prohibition Notice and an Emergency Prohibition Notice 
amongst other notifiable notices.    

3.2 In addition, Gravesham has not charged for UK entry inspections (often referred to 
as Immigration Inspections).  The purpose of these inspections is to assist the 
Home Office/Embassy to determine proposed accommodation is safe and free from 
hazards and not overcrowded.  In the Enforcement Policy it details that Gravesham 
can carry out this inspection with no charge detailed.   Ukrainian host inspections 
would be excluded from this.   

3.3 It is appropriate to consider all the councils current and future Housing Act 2004 
fees in line with the LGA guidance as Councils are permitted to recover costs.  This 
will enable service delivery to be protected moving forward.   

4. Proposed Standalone HMO Licencing Policy and Fees  

4.1 The standalone HMO Licencing Policy, included updated fees can be found in 

Appendix 1. The standalone policy will ensure: 

4.1.1 consistency of Gravesham’s approach to HMO Licensing  

4.1.2 enable officers to make reasoned decisions regarding licencing 

4.1.3 inform the public of the principles by which the licencing action is determined 

and subsequently taken 

4.1.4 ensure that an annual review is in place for the private housing function 

4.2 The updated fee structure will ensure best practice and will introduce different fees 
depending on the type of application that will be split in to two parts, Part A and Part 
B payments. The requirement to charge a two-stage fee is appropriate and will be 
applied as follows:  

4.2.1 Part A – A fee levied at the point on application, to cover the costs of the 
scheme’s authorisation procedures and formalities, i.e. the costs for 
processing the application.   

4.2.2 Part B – The payment of a further fee and final fee of the relevant variable 
licence fee will be payable by a successful applicant prior to the grant of a 
Licence.  
 

Page 11



4 

4.3 In the situation where the Council proposes to refuse to grant a Licence, it will serve 
notice to that effect under paragraph 5 to Schedule 5 Housing Act 2004. If the 
Council subsequently refuses to grant a licence, the fee equating to the relevant 
variable licence fee to cover the cost of determining that application is payable at 
that point. If the applicant does not pay that fee within 28 days of the refusal, the 
Council reserves the right to taken enforcement action to recovery the fee payable.  
Landlords are unable to submit the application without a payment being made and 
part B payment will need to be received before an award of an HMO licence is 
granted. Therefore, there will be no recovery costs to Gravesham.  

4.4 The table below sets out the current fee structure for the Councils mandatory HMO 
licencing Scheme, and the new fees that will form part of the council’s annual review 
of fees and charges:  

Mandatory HMO Licencing Scheme (excludes Additional & Selective)  

Local Authority Total Part A  Part B 

Current new HMO licence fee  £540.00 N/A N/A 

Current Renewal HMO licence fee  £540.00 N/A N/A 

Proposed New HMO licence fee  £703.00 £298.85 £404.48 

Proposed Renewal HMO licence fee  £545.40 £221.86 £323.54 

 

5. Fee Structure for Housing Enforcement Policy (Private Sector)  

5.1 Section 49 of the Housing Act 2004 states that ‘the local authority may make such 
reasonable charge as they consider appropriate as a means of recovering certain 
administrative and other expenses incurred by them’.  This applies to all notifiable 
notices that can be served and Appendix 3 the costing is broken down. 

5.2 The proposal is to be in line with neighbouring authorities who actively charge and 
have done for some time.  For 2022/2023 the proposed charge is £522.92 
(excluding VAT) for any notice.  Prices will increase per annum in line with inflation 
and officer’s time. 

Local Authority  Section 49 Charges (excluding VAT 

Gravesham   N/A 

Medway   £535.50 

Dartford  £460.00 

Sevenoaks   Case by Case 

 

5.3 Although the service has not been required to conduct one to date, it is proposed 
to introduce a charge to conduct a UK Entry Inspection and administration. The 
proposed fee for 2022/23 will be £158.69 which will be increased per annum in 
line with inflation and officer’s time and will be promoted on the Councils website.  

Page 12



5 

6. Conclusion 

6.1 It is vital that Gravesham are delivering services in line with legislation and 
delivering services whilst adhering to policy.  In addition, services should raise 
income where there is a power or duty to do so.  This links in with the Charging 
Strategy objectives of the Council and this new proposal does cover the full cost of 
providing the service. 

6.2 The Corporate Plan 2019-23 provides strategic objective of which this area of work 
would cross over into a number of themes.  The Council should meet the 
commitment to enforce a high quality of private housing and this approach will 
demonstrate that the Private Sector Housing team are pro-active in their approach 
and supportive to residents who are reliant on private sector homes. The service, 
at times, deals with the most vulnerable households in the borough and therefore it 
is important that we do all we can to improve residents' wellbeing. 

6.3 As a Council, we should be creating and taking the opportunities available to cover 
officer costs to administer an effective and professional HMO licencing scheme.  In 
addition, the service needs to pro-actively portray a message to the minority of 
rogue landlords in the private sector that as a Council we will not tolerate poor 
quality housing in the borough.  

Lead Officer:  Vicky May 

Email:  Victoria.may@gravesham.gov.uk  

 
  

Page 13

mailto:Victoria.may@gravesham.gov.uk


6 

Secondary Implications  

Risk Assessment Neither DLUCH nor the LGA have issued any specific guidance on fee setting for 
licencing schemes made under the Housing Act. The adoption on a “Hemming” fee 
structure nationally is sporadic. Kent County Council district and boroughs councils 
are not actively promoting the 2-part fee process, however, other local authorities 
have adopted and implemented the 2-part fee structure. 

Should the council not adopt a 2-part fee structure there remains a risk of legal 
challenge from landlords and applicants. 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 

 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of any 
major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a significant 
change to an existing process.  

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data?  

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information Commissioner’s 
Office website via the above links. 

No 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 

N/A 

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

N/A 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer. 

No 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer. 

Yes as this is likely to target the most vulnerable household living in poverty. 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Crime and Disorder The provision of suitable HMOs and homes within the borough enhances the 
council’s ability to meet the needs to our residents and helps prevent them being 
victims of crime or becoming involved in criminal activity.  

Digital and website 
implications 

The HMO application can currently be made via Gravehsams website and for those 
that attempt to make the application through GOV.UK will be redirected.  There is a 
small piece of work to take place to ensure that the split payment is possible and 
will proceed once approved. 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 

The provision of safe accommodation contributes towards meeting the needs to 
vulnerable adults and children.  

 

Page 14

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


 
 
 
 
 
 

Gravesham Borough Council 
 
Housing Services 
 
Houses of Multiple Occupation (HMO) Licencing 
Policy 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Document Control 
 

Responsible Department Private Sector Housing 

Responsible Manager Service Manager (Housing Options) 

Revision Timeframe Annually 
 
 
Revision History 
 

Date Previous 
Version 

Description of Revision 

18 October 
2022 

n/a Creation of policy 

   

   

   

   

 

Page 15



Contents 

1. Introduction 

2. Purpose Statement  

3. Policy Aims 

4. Scope of Policy 

5. Requirement for a Licence to operate an HMO 

5.1 Conditions of Licence 

5.2 HMO Declaration 

5.3 Licence Exemptions 

5.4 Temporary Licence Exemptions 

6. Applying for an HMO licence or licence renewal 

6.1 Licence 

6.2 Making a new application or renewal 

6.3 How a decision is made to grant, vary or refuse an application 

6.4 Licence duration 

6.5 Varying the terms of a licence 

6.6 Revoking a licence  

7. Decision making process 

8. Licence fees 

8.1  Refunds 

9. HMO Inspections 

9.1 Inspections of owner-occupied properties 

9.2 HMO investigations, enforcement and penalties 

9.3 Revoking a Licence throughout licence period 

9.4 Anti-Social Behaviour in HMO’s 

Appendix 1 – Fees and charges 

Appendix 2 – Information required to make an application  

Appendix 3 – Fit and proper person criteria  

Appendix 4 – Mandatory Licence Minimum Requirements  

Appendix 5 – Legal and Policy Context 

 

Page 16



1. Introduction  

A house in multiple occupation (HMO) is a property rented out by at least three people who are not 

from the same household who share facilities such as bathroom and kitchen facilities. Properties 

can include bedsit accommodation, hostels and self-contained flats which are multiply occupied. 

 

HMO’s create opportunities for residents to take advantage of lower cost accommodation, however, 

they are also considered to present greater risks to safety and the welfare of their occupants. 

Therefore, both national and local controls through licensing have been enhanced over time to 

ensure that accommodation is safe, well managed and of good quality.  

 

For certain higher risk HMOs, national Mandatory Licensing applies to landlords under Part 2 of the 

Housing Act 2004.  

 

Gravesham Borough Council do not current run an Additional Licensing scheme, nor a Selective 

Licensing Scheme. 

 

2. Purpose Statement 

This policy sets out the Council’s approach to delivering HMO licensing, including receipt, 

authorisation, and determination of licence applications. It also sits alongside our Private Sector 

Housing Enforcement Policy in outlining our commitment to support and educate our good 

landlords, while taking proportionate enforcement action against non-compliance. 

3. Policy Aims 

The council's aim in respect of the above functions is to: 

 

 set out the legal requirements, policies, principles and priorities that the Private Housing 

Service will follow when enforcing legislation 

 help provide safer and healthier private housing to protect and improve the quality of life for 

the residents of Gravesham 

 increase public confidence in the quality and management of accommodation 

 raise the profile and demonstrate the transparency of enforcement in the private rented 

sector 

 

This policy is designed to: 

 

 ensure consistency of approach and enforcement 

 enable officers to make reasoned decisions regarding licencing and enforcement 

 inform the public of the principles by which the licencing action is determined and 

subsequently taken 

 ensure that, as a signatory to the Government's Enforcement Concordat, the council has a 

relevant (and periodically reviewed) policy in place for the private housing function 

 

4. Scope of the Policy 

The Private Sector Housing Team has responsibilities that include: 

 

 assessment of hazards in residential premises under the Housing Health and Safety Rating 

System (HHSRS) 

 statutory nuisance affecting residential properties 

Page 17



 standards of repair, amenities and fire precautions, and management in Houses in Multiple 

Occupation including licensing of properties within the mandatory licensing scheme.  

 

5. Requirement for a Licence to Operate an HMO 

HMO’s Requiring a Licence  

The definition of an HMO can be found under Part 2 of the Housing Act 2004 and licences are 

usually required to operate an HMO property in Gravesham. Whether you need a licence and the 

type of licence required is dependent on the property type, the number of households in occupation 

and amenities available.  

 

It is the responsibility of a landlord or property manager to ensure they check whether their property 

requires a licence and to obtain one if needed. Separate licences will be required for separate 

HMOs.  

 

The table summarises the HMOs which require a licence to operate in Gravesham: 

 

S
h

a
re

d
 H

o
u

s
e

s
 a

n
d

 F
la

ts
 

Mandatory 
HMO 

If there are two or more households and five or 
more people sharing facilities, you will require a 
mandatory licence. This is a national 
requirement but does not apply to flats in 
purpose-built blocks.  
 

 
 
Active in 
Gravesham 

Additional 
HMO  

For all properties not covered by the mandatory 
scheme where there are two or more 
households and three or more people sharing 
facilities. 

 
Not Active 
in 
Gravesham 
 

Live in 
Landlord 

You are required to apply for a licence if you 
have 3 or more paying lodgers 

Not Active 
in 
Gravesham 
 

 

5.1  Conditions of the Licence 

 

The licence holder, or manager, must comply with certain management obligations set out in 

regulations set out below, which apply to all HMOs: 

 

 The Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation (England) Regulations 2006  

 The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Additional Provisions) 

(England) Regulations 2007  

 

The licence holder must comply with national minimum amenity standards and mandatory 

conditions, as well as locally adopted standards and conditions. Other management and work 

conditions may also be added to the licence to ensure the property is suitable and safe for 

occupation by the permitted number of occupants. 

 

5.2  HMO Declarations  

 

The council may serve an HMO declaration on a building which it thinks should be treated as a 

Section 254 (HMO test) or Section 257 (conversion prebuilding regulations) HMO. The building 

must meet one of the Section 254 HMO tests but fails to meet the ‘sole use’ condition. This may be 

the case where the sole use of a building by residents is not as their only or main residence, but a 

significant proportion is. For example, a hotel or hostel where a significant number of residents 

occupy the building on a longer-term basis as their only or main residence. 

 

Page 18



5.3  Licence Exemptions 

 

Under the Mandatory Licensing Scheme, certain properties and agents are exempt from requiring a 

licence. Including:  

 a local housing authority, 

 a non-profit registered provider of social housing, 

 a body which is registered as a social landlord under Part 1 of the Housing Act 1996 (c. 52), 

 a police and crime commissioner, 

 the Mayor's Office for Policing and Crime, 

 a fire and rescue authority, or 

 a health service body of section 9 of the National Health Service Act 2006 

 

5.4  Temporary Licence Exemptions  

 

Under certain circumstances it is possible to apply for a temporary exemption from licensing for a 

period of 3 months. The council will consider a temporary exemption request where:  

 The applicant outlines particular steps with a view to securing that the property is no longer 

required to be licensed. Evidence will be required in most instances such as a house 

purchase contract with vacant possession.  

 There is a reasonable prospect of the proposed course of action being achieved within 3 

months. 

 There is no threat to the existing tenants in the building or risk that they will be treated 

unfairly or made homeless.  

 The exemption is not to be used as an alternative to licensing, for example where an HMO is 

being created for a short-term period.  

 The exemption is not being used to avoid enforcement proceedings or civil proceedings 

against the landlord. 

 

6. Applying for a Licence or Renewal 

6.1  The Licence Holder  

 

The most appropriate person to apply for a licence will be the person having control of the property. 

This is normally the person who receives the rent. (Further information on the licence holder can be 

found in Appendix A).  

 

HMO licences are non-transferrable following approval. It is a condition of the licence that the 

licence holder notifies the council of any change in management or ownership or proposed change 

of licence holder. Where there is a change of licence holder, or ownership where the owner is the 

licence holder, a full new application will be required by the new licence holder or owner.  

 

6.2  Making a new application or renewal 

 

Applications should be made on the council’s website. You will be required to provide information 

about the property, the licence holder, the managing agent and pay a fee. For further information on 

what is required see Appendix A. If special assistance is required completing an application an 

assisted fee will be charged.  

 

The licence holder is responsible for ensuring that renewal applications are submitted in good time 

prior to the expiry of an existing licence. Should the renewal date lapse, applicants will be required 

to complete a new licence application rather than a renewal application; a new licence fee will be 

charged. 

Page 19



 

 

6.3 How a decision is made to grant, vary or refuse an application 

 

Applications will only be considered valid if the application is fully completed along with all required 

accompanying documents, and payment of the correct application fee.  

 

The Council aim to determine valid applications within 3 months, however higher risk properties may 

be prioritised. If there are delays in processing an application, the applicant will be informed of 

progress at regular intervals..  

 

6.4 Licence duration  

 

The HMO licence will be granted for a period of 5 years. In certain situations, the council may issue 

licences for shorter durations, in particular where:  

 

 The HMO is identified by the council rather than through a licence application.  

 There is previous history of non-compliance either in Gravesham or another local authority.  

 Conditions within the property are poor, or conditions are attached to the licence that will 

require a review of management arrangements in the following 12 months.  

 The applicant is not able to demonstrate they will maintain full control over the property for 5 

years, for example due to a short lease.  

 The property is occupied by ‘Property Guardians’ on a short-term basis 

 The planning status for use as an HMO is unconfirmed  

 A freeholder or head leaseholder has made a representation that use as an HMO is in 

breach of lease conditions  

 

6.5 Varying the terms of a licence  

 

There may be applicants who would like the terms of their licence application varied. For example, 

where there are additions or reductions to occupation and amenities, or where the licence holder is 

a company and the name of the company changes (providing the registered company number 

remains the same). An application can be made online, and Licences will be varied with agreement 

with the licence holder. The council may also choose to vary the terms, and this decision will be 

subject to appeal.  

 

6.6 Revoking a licence  

 

A licence holder wanting to revoke their licence can do so if the request is made in writing to the 

Council and supporting evidence is provided. This could be the case if a property is sold, or the 

owner intends to occupy the property. 

 

7. The Decision-Making Process 

How we grant, vary, or refuse an application is set out below: 

Online 
Application 

Apply for a HMO Licence | Houses in Multiple Occupation – 
Gravesham Borough Council 

Automated 
Validation 

Where the applicant is able to provide all the requested information, 
documentation and payment of the initial portion of the application fee 
(Part A). 

Officer 
Determination 

Where the applicant satisfies the relevant requirements  

Page 20

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/licensing/houses-multiple-occupation-1/2
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/licensing/houses-multiple-occupation-1/2


 Fit and Proper Test (Appendix B)  

 Suitability of Property  

 Sufficient Management arrangements  

 No representations against the licence have been made or are 
resolved High-risk properties and landlords will normally be 
inspected at this stage. 

Manager 
Determination 

The determining officer may defer the determination of the application 
to a senior manager where it is deemed to raise complex, serious or 
sensitive matters; or the application involves unusual requests for 
variation of the licence. This may also include applications where a 
representation has been made by a freeholder/head leaseholder that 
HMO use is in breach of lease conditions. 

Online 
Application 

Applicant will be notified of the outcome above and completion of Part 
B will be prompted 

Notice of 
Intention to 
Licence 

The determining officer will send the applicant and any interested 
parties an Intention to Licence Notice detailing 

 occupation limits  

 mandatory and discretionary conditions  

The applicant and interested parties will have 28 days to provide any 
representations in writing in response to the proposed licence and 
conditions. Where amendments are made to the licence following a 
representation, a further 7 days will be provided for any further 
representation. This process may be repeated if necessary. 

Licence 
Issued 

The determining officer will send the applicant and any interested 
parties a Notice to Grant Licence detailing the final 

 occupation limits  

 mandatory and discretionary conditions  

 

 

The Council may refuse to issue a licence for several reasons such as:  

Does not 
meet the 
threshold of 
Fit and 
Proper (see 
Appendix A) 

 previous contraventions of housing related laws  

 convictions relating to offences involving dishonesty, violence, 
sexual offences, drugs or fraud  

 convictions relating to unlawful discrimination practices  

 whether they have been subject to any legal proceedings by a 
Local Authority for breaches of planning, compulsory purchase, 
environmental protection legislation or other relevant legislation 

 whether they are or have been subject to previous management 
orders or banning orders  

 whether persons associated or formally associated with the 
proposed licence holder are unfit  

 any other considerations that may be relevant 

Property is 
not suitable 

 the number of households  

 the imposing of condition would still not guarantee suitability. 

Insufficient 
management 
arrangements 
in place 

 the applicant is not considered the most suitable person to hold 
the licence 

 

Page 21



8. Licence Fees 

The required fees are:  

Part 
A 

Payable when submitting Part-A of the 
application process 

Covers the cost of processing 
the application 

 

Part 
B 

Payable when submitting Part-B of the 
application process 

Covers the cost of enforcing 
the scheme 

 

 

The current fees can be found in Appendix 1 The Part A fee covers the time taken to receive and 

process a licence to decision (grant or refuse). This fee can be charged on initial application. The 

Part B fee covers the cost of maintaining the wider schemes (such as ICT costs, management 

overheads) and any enforcement costs.  

The Part B fee can only be charged when licence applications are fully satisfied and approved (if a 

licence is refused the Part B fee cannot be charged but the Part A fee can be retained). 

 

HMO Licence fees are subject to annual review and therefore may change. Fees are published 
on the council’s website. There are standard fees for both shared houses and flats and 
buildings converted into self-contained flats. Larger HMOs which have higher numbers of units 
may also be required to pay supplementary charges. The council will not approve and issue the 
licence until the full fee has been received and the property will be treated as unlicenced until 
full payment is received. 
 

8.1 Refunds  

 

Where applications are made in error and the subject property does not require a licence, a full 
refund will be issued. Where applications are refused, invalid or the intention was to operate an 
HMO, no refund will be issued. 

 

9. HMO Inspections  

 

Once a licence has been granted, the council will notify the licence holder of any programmed HMO 

inspections within the 5-year licence period. Higher risk properties and those with poor conditions 

will be prioritised.  

 

The purpose of the inspection is to ensure that:  

 

 the Licence holder is compliant with their licence conditions  

 the building/property is free from hazards  

 further advice and guidance is provided on housing standards  

 enforcement action is taken as required  

 

9.1 Inspections of owner-occupied properties  

 

Where the HMO is housing an owner-occupier, the council will inspect owner occupied parts of the 

property as part of a building wide inspection to ensure fire separation and detection provisions are 

adequate. The council will generally refrain from requiring works in owner occupied flats unless 

there is a need to protect other occupiers in the building. Any other significant hazards located 

within owner occupied dwellings will usually be brought to the attention of the owner through the 

Page 22



service of a Hazard Awareness Notice which advises of the existence of the hazard and what action 

can be taken to remove the hazard. 

 

9.2 HMO investigations, enforcement and penalties 
 
Enforcement action will be taken in line with the Council’s Private Sector Housing Enforcement 
Policy. In summary this means we will adopt a positive and proactive approach towards ensuring 
compliance, by helping HMO owners understand and meet regulatory requirements easily and 
responding proportionately to breaches. However, where failure to comply may risk causing serious 
harm, be the result of deliberate illegal behaviour, or failure to correct an identified serious problem - 
we will not hesitate to take strong enforcement action.  
 
Enforcement action may be taken for the following:  
 

 Operating an HMO without a licence  

 Failing to comply with licensing conditions  

 Failing to comply with Management Regulations  

 Failing to comply with a Notice or Order served under Part 1 of the Housing Act 2004  
 

The action we may take, initiating prosecution or imposing a civil penalty, and level of penalty fine 
we may determine is outlined in the council’s Private Housing Enforcement Policy.  
 
9.3 Revoking a Licence throughout licence period 
 
The council may also consider revoking a licence where:  
 

 The landlord is no longer considered fit and proper. This could include new offences that 
have come to light both in Gravesham or other local authority areas.  

 There has been a significant breach of licensing conditions or non-compliance with 
enforcement action  

 For a reason in relation to the structure of the property.  

 The property is no longer considered reasonably suitable for specified number of persons 
occupying the house. Prior to a licence being revoked a Notice of Intention will be served 
providing a representation period of 14 days for the licence holder and interested parties to 
respond. 

 

9.4 Anti-Social Behaviour in HMO’s 

 
The Licence Holder shall ensure that all reasonable and practical steps (as defined in Housing Act 
2004, Section 57(5)) are taken to investigate, prevent or reduce anti-social behaviour (ASB) or 
criminality by the Tenants of and visitors to the Property. In particular;  
 

 The Licence Holder shall put in place written ASB procedures detailing how complaints 
made to the Licence Holder will be dealt with, a copy of which shall be provided to the 
tenants in the information pack. The Licence Holder shall within twenty-eight (28) days of 
any demand by the Council provide their written ASB procedure. 
 

 Where complaints of ASB or criminality are made to the Licence Holder, the Licence Holder 
shall investigate them and take action to resolve them. Copies of the complaint shall be kept 
together with notes arising during the course of the investigation and how the matter was 
resolved; and the Licence Holder must keep them for the duration of this Licence. Where the 
Licence Holder has reason to believe that criminal activity is taking place at the Property, the 
Licence Holder must ensure that the appropriate authorities are informed.  

 

 There may be instances where ASB occurs more than once, but not continuously and 
possibly intermittently over several months. In such circumstances the Licence Holder shall, 
as far as reasonably practicable take all steps required to ensure that is it effectively 
managed and dealt with, up to and including eviction. 

 

Page 23



Appendix 1 - Licence Fees 

Part 2 Housing Act 2004 Mandatory HMO Licencing (excludes Additional & 
Selective) 
 

 Total Part A Fee  Part B Fee 

New Licence Fee 2023/2024 £703.33 £298.85 £404.48 

Renewal Licence Fee 2023/2024 £545.40 £221.86 £323.54 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 24



Appendix 2 – Information Required For A Licence Application 

 

The Licence Holder  

 

Any person who owns or manages a property can apply for a licence. Usually this is the person who 
receives the rent. This could be freeholder or any other owner or lessor who receives rent (whether 
directly or through an agent or trustee) from tenants or lodgers in the premises.  

 

In determining whether the proposed licence holder is the most appropriate party the council will 
consider whether they have:  

 

 The authority to ensure compliance with the licence conditions  

 The authority to let and terminate the tenancies and receive the rental income for the whole 
property  

 Are able to access all parts of the premises 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 25



Appendix 3: Fit and Proper Test  

 

Before considering a licence application the council has a duty to consider whether the proposed 
licence holder and manager is fit and proper having regard to the following:  

 

 Whether the proposed licence holder has contravened any housing related laws + 

 Convictions relating to offences involving dishonesty, violence, sexual offences, drugs or fraud 

 Convictions relating to unlawful discrimination practices  

 Whether they have been subject to any legal proceedings by a Local Authority for breaches of 
planning, compulsory purchase, environmental protection legislation or other relevant 
legislation  

 Has been subject to previous management orders or banning orders  

 Any other considerations that may be relevant  

 

Consideration of ‘persons associated or formally associated’ with the proposed licence holder will be 
considered when determining the proposed licence holder and manager’s fitness.  

 

When deciding if the applicant is fit and proper, each case will be judged on its own merits. 
Consideration will be given to:  

 

 Number and severity of offences  

 When previous offence(s) were conduced  

 Circumstances surrounding the offence  

 Whether the offences were conducted by individuals or larger companies  

 Evidence of rehabilitation or more recent good practice  

 Any other mitigating circumstances 12 Information Required The following information must be 
submitted:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 26



Appendix 4 – Mandatory Licence Minimum Requirements  

 

 Fully completed application form (Part A & Part B) 

  The correct licence fee  

 Gas safety record (issued within the last 12 months – where there is a gas supply)  

 Emergency lighting inspection & test certificate  

 Electrical installation safety certificate (issued within the last 5 years)  

 Fire alarm test certificate (issued within the last 12 months where a fire alarm system is 
installed)  

 Portable Appliance Test Certificate 

 Fire Risk Assessment 

 Floor plan or sketch of the property layout / room sizes in square meters 

 A copy of an Assured Shorthold Tenancy agreement  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 27



Appendix 5 - Legal and Policy Context  

 

In preparing this policy the Council has considered and referred to the following:  

 

 Legislation applicable to the Licensing of HMOs (Housing Act 2004)  

 The Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation (England) Regulations 2006  

 The Licensing and Management of HMOs (Additional Provisions) (England) Regulations 2007  

 Housing & Planning Act 2016  

 Houses in Multiple Occupation and residential property licensing reform: Guidance for Local 
Housing Authorities - MHCLG 2018 

 Gravesham Borough Council’s Housing Enforcement Policy (Private Sector) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 28



 

 

 

 
 

 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Classification: Public 

Key Decision: No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Housing Services Committee 

Date: 14 November 2022 

Reporting officer: Daniel Killian - Director (Housing) 

Subject: Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Two 2022-23 

Purpose and summary of report:  

To present Members of the Housing Services Committee with an update against the 
Performance Management Framework, as introduced within the council’s Corporate Plan, for 
Quarter Two 2022-23 (July to September 2022). 
 

Recommendations: 

1. This report is for information purposes only.  

Key Implications: 

Item Implications 

Legal The council’s Corporate Plan is an integral part of the authority’s 
policy framework as defined by the Constitution. The new Plan will 
ensure the council has in place an effective framework to deliver 
its responsibilities and ensure better results for vulnerable local 
residents, with the assistance of relevant partner agencies. 
 

Finance and Value for 
Money 

There are no significant costs associated with the monitoring of 
the Corporate Plan from which council activities should be based 
and which therefore should be accounted for as part of on-going 
financial planning processes. 
 

Corporate Plan The council’s adopted Corporate Plan sets the strategic ambition 
and objectives for the authority over the 2019-23 period. This 
report provides the Committee with a quarterly assessment of how 
the council is delivering against its objectives through its 
Performance Management Framework. 
 

Climate Change Climate change as a strategic theme underpins the projects, 
initiatives and work involved in the delivery of the council's 
Corporate Plan. As a core policy commitment of the council, 
efforts in this area are represented within corporate objective #1: 
People. 
 

 

Page 31 Agenda Item 7



2 

 
1. Introduction 

1.1 In October 2019 the council formally adopted its Corporate Plan for 2019-23. The 
plan sets out the authority’s ambition for the borough, complete with a suite of 
corporate objectives and supporting policy commitments that will shape the 
council’s activities over the four-year period.   

1.2 In order to evaluate if the council is effectively achieving against its stated policy 
commitments, and is ultimately delivering consistently high-quality services, a 
sound performance management process is required to be implemented.  

1.3 Developed by senior council officers and Cabinet portfolio holders, the council’s 
Corporate Plan presents a Performance Management Framework (PMF) that 
forms the basis of reporting corporate performance to Members and residents.  

2. Performance management: process 

2.1 The effective management of the council relies upon good quality and timely 
performance information on which to base informed executive decisions.  

2.2 Appendix 1 to this report provides Members of the Housing Services Committee 
with an overview of the council’s performance against the Corporate Plan for 
Quarter Two 2022-23, covering the period July to September 2022.  

2.3 Statistical performance over the period is presented separately in tabular and 
graphical form for all indicators. Where any data is not presented, this will relate 
either to those indicators reported on an annual basis or, alternatively, where data 
has not been submitted in time for the presentation of the report. Any outturns 
where data has been unable to be reported will be presented within the next 
appropriate reporting cycle.  

2.4 Alongside statistical content, the Appendix provides supporting detailed qualitative 
updates outlining what activity the council has delivered, and what is to be taken, 
to successfully realise the Corporate Plan’s objectives and policy commitments 
relating to the portfolio for the 2019-23 period.    

2.5 This report is for information purposes only. 
 

3. Appendices 

3.1 The following documents are to be published with the report:  

Appendix 1: Housing Services Portfolio – Q2 2022-23 
 

4. Background papers 

 Gravesham Borough Council: Corporate Plan 2019-23.  

 Gravesham Borough Council: PMF 2019-23. 

 
Lead Officer:  

 
Daniel Killian - Director (Housing) 

Email:  daniel.killian@gravesham.gov.uk 

Page 32

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/corporateplan
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/performance


3 

Secondary Implications  

Risk Assessment Implementation of a PMF allows the council to evidence how successful it is in 
achieving against its stated objectives and provides residents accountability in how 
it is administering its resources. 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 

 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.  

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data?  

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. 

No. 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 

Click here to start typing 

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

Click here to start typing 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer. 

No. 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer. 

No. 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Crime and Disorder Community safety is an integral theme of the Corporate Plan and work by the 
council in this area, alongside its key partners, will go towards delivering corporate 
objective #1: People. 

Digital and website 
implications 

In terms of the council's performance management framework, digital implications 
are represented and assessed through the outturns relating to  'PI 51: online self-
help forms'. 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 

The council's work in safeguarding children and vulnerable adults helps contribute 
towards delivering corporate objectives #1: People and #2: Place.  

 

Page 33

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Gravesham Borough Council - Corporate Plan 2019-23 00Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

H O U S I N G  S E R V I C E S
P O R T F O L I O

Performance   report 
Q  2  :  2  0  2  2  -  2  3

Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 35



P I  15

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 64

2020-21 135

2021-22 230

2022-23

1. Deliver an ambitious and diverse programme of building: increase the supply of high quality 
market and affordable housing.

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and attractive borough their home.

Annual indicator 

Gross number of affordable homes delivered

During Quarter 2, we saw 21 affordable homes completing across two sites.

The largest number of completions this quarter took place at Watermans Park where Orbit and 
Sage took handover of 12 homes.

A further 9 homes for affordable rent were completed on the Land in Meopham the old police 
station by GCHA.

A breakdown of affordable homes delivered during Quarter 2 in terms of type and size is detailed 
below:-

- Affordable Rent
9 x 3 bed house

- Shared Ownership
12 x 2 bed flat

#1 PEOPLE 

0

100

200

300

2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

P
age 36



P I  16 Total number of empty private sector homes brought back into occupation

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 6 1 2 1

2020-21 6 11 3 5

2021-22 3 5 0 0

2022-23 1 3

P I  17 Total number of private sector homes brought up to standard 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 5 2 2 12

2020-21 2 2 1 4

2021-22 4 2 1 0

2022-23 0 1

#1 PEOPLE 
P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

2. Enforce a high quality of private housing: work with landlords to tackle property standards, 
empty homes and homes in multiple occupation.
Empty Homes:

Following extensive discussions and visits over a number of years, officers were successful in 
getting the former Stork site (Rest Public House) cleared, allowing the owner to submit a planning 
application for x6 new build residential dwellings. 

Private Sector Housing:

In terms of the number of private sector homes brought up to standard in Q2, the outturn for the 
reporting performance indicator is 1, this relates specifically to the number of Cat 1 hazards that 
have been identified.  However, during the quarter the service has issued 4 Notices to 4 properties 
following identification of 12 Cat 2 hazards. 

The Private Sector Housing team are also dealing with general service requests and have carried 
out 16 inspections on temporary accommodation units outside of the Gravesham borough and 15 
Ukrainian host inspections also.  

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and attractive borough their home.

-5

0

5

10

15

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22
2022-23

0

5

10

15

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22
2022-23

P
age 37



P I  18

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 29 23 21 22

2020-21 53 30 22 26

2021-22 28 32 47 32

2022-23 28 19

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

Average time taken to re-let council housing (days)

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and attractive borough their home.

#1 PEOPLE 

3. Provide a proactive, supportive and financially efficient housing service: high quality 
tenant management experienced through a service making full use of its assets. 
The average time taken to re-let Council Housing continues to reduce. This continues to reflect the 
great, collective work of all of the teams within Housing, who have all been working together to re-
let properties as quickly as possible. 

The reduction in arrears this quarter is unexpected due to the cost of living crisis that we are 
currently in, however is a reflection of the hard work put in by the Housing Income Team focusing 
on early intervention and prevention of arrears and signposting to agencies that can provide 
additional financial support to our tenants. 

The Tenant Engagement Team continue to focus on a wide range of engagement methods via 
resident meetings, forums and consultations events, even nominating some of our tenants for the 
Kent Housing Group Unsung Hero Awards which our wonderful tenants won for the work they do 
within their community. In addition, the Specialist Housing Officer, James Newman also won the 
award for ‘Excellent Young Housing Professional’ for his dedication and commitment to improving 
the relationship with have with our Gypsy and Traveller Community.

The Independent Living Team continue to support some of our most vulnerable tenants, with over 
260 health and safety checks and 3178 welfare checks carried out over the last quarter.

0

25

50

75

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22
2022-23

P
age 38



P I  19 % of Disabled Facility Grant applications processed on time

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 100% 100% 100% 100%

2020-21 100% 100% 100% 100%

2021-22 100% 100% 100% 100%

2022-23 100% 100%

P I   20

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 103 80 74 74

2020-21 96 99 102 125

2021-22 128 146 163 162

2022-23 185 194

Total number of households in temporary accommodation

4. Safeguard residents: put in place a package of housing measures and creative interventions 
that support the most vulnerable.
Disabled Facility Grants
The Council continues to offer the Disabled Facility Grant programme to homes eligible for 
assistance that comply with the wider remit of the Better Care Fund. There were 29 new 
applications received that were processed on time and therefore reflecting 100%from receipt of the 
official application.   There are discussions around hoarding cases as there has been an increase 
in the numbers for this area.

Temporary Accommodation
There are 194 households in TA of which 90 of those households are in Gravesham stock with the 
remaining in nightly paid accommodation.  There has been work completed to reduce the number 
of households outside of the borough and this has reduced to 45 at the end of the quarter from 50.  

The Service Manager has been monitoring and reporting monthly to Management Team as this 
continues to be a pressure point for Gravesham.  It has been recognsied that further resource is 
required to manage this piece of work and approval to recruit an additional officer has been 
agreed.  Unfortunately, recruitment has been challenging with the person identified not taking the 
employment.  The service will be pushing this forward to ensure that we can boost this area.   

An options appraisal was completed at service level and it was agreed that we should explore the 
options of a social lettings agency to move households out of temporary accommodation as well 
as prevent homelessness before crisis.   

There continues to be increasing pressure within the Homeless team and this is contributed by the 
financial climate.  Regular meetings do take place with DLUCH and it is aparant that they are 
using new language such as 'crisis' when discussing homelessness. 

#1 PEOPLE 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and attractive borough their home.

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

85%

90%

95%

100%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22
2022-23

50

100

150

200

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22
2022-23

P
age 39



P I  21 % of emergency jobs completed on time

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 100% 100% 100% 100%

2020-21 100% 100% 100% 100%

2021-22 100% 100% 100% 100%

2022-23 100% 100%

P I   22 % of council properties with valid gas safety certification

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 100% 100% 100% 100%

2020-21 99.6% 99.5% 99.8% 100%

2021-22 100% 100% 100% 100%

2022-23 100% 100%

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

DSO Building Management completed nearly 5,500 repair jobs in quarter 2 and completed work on 
85 properties in order for them to be re-let. Customer satisfaction was at 100% with officially 47 
logged compliments.

Quarter 2 has also been busy in regards to health and safety works completed:

* Fire detection installations in general let properties: 207 completed, 891 either in progress or 
pending in current programme
* Fire detection installations in sheltered properties: 62 completed, 57 either in progress or 
pending in current programme
* Upgrades to door entry systems: 7 sites completed, works either in progress or planned to:
   - Upgrade door entry systems at 2 further sites 
   - Digital switchover at 14 sheltered sites
* LED Emergency lighting upgrades carried out at 4 blocks
* Fire rated front door replacements to flats: 234 installed, 164 either in progress or pending in 
current programme.

Planned work projects also continued in quarter 2 and saw a number of improvements to our 
stock:

* Kitchen renewals: 23 completed
* Bathroom renewals:8 completed
* Windows and door renewals: 20 properties completed
* Roofing: 18 properties completed
* Electrical tests: 463 properties completed, 
* Electrical tests: 21 blocks completed
* Wet room installations:11 completed.

5. Deliver a skilled in-house building management team: progressively improve the standard 
and efficiency of local housing.

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and attractive borough their home.
#1 PEOPLE 

85%

90%

95%

100%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22
2022-23

85%

90%

95%

100%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20
2020-21
2021-22
2022-23

P
age 40



 

Classification: Private 

Key Decision: No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Housing Committee Report 
 

Date: 14 November 2022 
 

Reporting officer: Jody Bulman, Service Manager (Housing Landlord Services) and 
Nicole Arthur, Service Manager (Housing Operations) 
 

Subject: Annual Council Housing Report 

Purpose and summary of report:  

To provide Housing Services Cabinet Committee with a draft copy of the Annual Council 
Housing Report and to seek comments on the content prior to design work being undertaken 
by the Communications Team and ratified by Cabinet Member for Housing Services. 
 

Recommendations: 

1. For Housing Services Cabinet Committee to note the contents of the report and 
provide feedback. 

Key Implications:  

Item Implications 

Legal As a social housing landlord the Council has a duty to ensure 
meaningful engagement with tenants as set out by the Regulator 
of Social Housing. 
 

Finance and Value for 
Money 

As above, we have a duty to engage with tenants and be 
transparent about how we spend the income from rent and service 
charges. 

Corporate Plan The work that the Housing Team carry out contribute to the 
corporate plan, particularly #People - Provide a Proactive, 
Supportive and Efficient housing management service: high 
quality tenancy management experienced through a service 
making full use of its assets. 

Climate Change  Annual Report is an excellent method is informing tenants of the 
work that the Housing Team have carried out in relation to climate 
change. 

 
 
 

1. Introduction 

1.1 The Housing Team wanted to provide tenants with information relating to all of the 
achievements of the last 12 months. The reason for this is to celebrate the 

Page 41 Agenda Item 8



2 

successes, to provide tenants with information regarding the services we provide 
and to give an insight into what they can expect in the coming 12 months. 

1.2 The annual report provides tenants with information regarding a range of services 
that they receive, including: 

 Housing Income 

 Independent Living 

 Tenant Engagement 

 Housing Management (Estate Inspections and ASB Management) 

 Leasehold and RTB services 

 Housing Development 

 Repairs and Maintenance 

 Safety and Improvement Works 

 Caretaking and Grounds Maintenance 

 Energy and Sustainability 

1.3  In addition to providing information regarding the services we provide, we have 
also used the annual report to inform tenants regarding the number of complaints 
and compliments we received, as this is an opportunity to let tenants know that we 
don’t always get it right first time, but if we don’t we are committed to putting it 
right; and an opportunity to thank all of the tenants who took the time to 
compliment us.  

1.4 The full draft report can be found in Appendix A. 

2. Next Steps 

2.1 Once presented to Housing Committee the document will be sent to 
Communications to undertake design work in line with the Tenant Engagement 
Strategy which received excellent feedback. 

2.2 Once the format has been agreed with the Director of Housing, it will be made 
available to tenants both electronically and hard copy. 

3. Budgets 

3.1 There are no budgetary implications. The cost of producing and delivering the 
annual report has been accounted for in this year’s budget. 

4. Background Documents  

4.1 None  

5.  

5.1  

 

Page 42



3 

Secondary Implications  

Risk Assessment N/A – Annual Housing Report is an additional way of keeping tenants informed. 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 

 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.  

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data?  

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. 

No 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 

Click here to start typing 

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

Click here to start typing 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer. 

No 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer. 

Click here to start typing 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Crime and Disorder None 

Digital and website 
implications 

Annual report to be available on the website 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 

None 

 

Page 43

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Annual Council Housing Report 2021- 2022 

 

Welcome to our annual report. 

This review of our operations over the past 12 months (1 April 2021- 31 March 2022) comes 

at a challenging time for our tenants and ourselves. 

Rising energy bills, inflation pressures, and the cost and supply issues associated with 

sourcing building materials mean that just like our tenants, we face real financial pressures. 

However, that will not stop us striving to provide the best possible service to each and every 

one of our residents – it’s what we are here for. 

We are also doing all we can to ensure our tenants have all the help and advice they need to 

navigate these difficult waters, either directly through personal contact or by signposting 

them to the help available and measures they can take themselves through our Your Home 

tenant newsletter. 

Despite these challenges, this report highlights the excellent work being done on a daily 

basis by our team here at Gravesham. 

We are proud to be one of the few local authorities to retain our own council houses, 

meaning we are in direct control of all repairs and maintenance and our tenants know they 

can speak directly to us if they have any issues or problems. 

We are of course only too well aware that the number of people waiting for social housing in 

the Borough outstrips supply, which is why we are committed to a programme of building 

new council-owned homes and to ensuring our teams turn around vacant properties and 

make them available for their next families as quickly as possible. 

I am proud of the way our team works with our tenants to deliver homes and a Borough they 

can be proud of. 

With all good wishes 

Cllr Jenny Wallace 

Cabinet Member for Housing Services 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 45



Housing Income – collecting your rent 

Rental income and service charges pays for the services that all our tenants receive 

such responsive repairs, new kitchens and bathrooms, redecoration of external 

areas and building new council homes. Therefore, it is important that our tenants pay 

their rent, and on time so that the planned and required work can go ahead.  

Despite Covid-19 restrictions lifting, the impact is still being felt by tenants who 

continue to be affected by the repercussions of this virus, such as an increase in 

unemployment alongside the cost of living crisis. To support our tenants, the 

Housing Income Team have changed the way in which they recover the rent and 

introduced a more collaborative approach by encouraging our tenants to make 

contact with the team as soon as possible to discuss any financial difficulties and to 

put a sensible and achievable plan in place to lessen any negative impacts. The 

team also offer help to tenants in submitting claims for Universal Credit as, for many 

of our tenants, it has been the first time they had ever had to make such a claim. 

The team has significantly increased the amount of personal contact made with our 
tenants and this is something that we will continue, ensuring that we recover rent 
and arrears in a respectful and supportive manner. We have received some amazing 
compliments from tenants thanking us for our empathy, understanding and support 
and what a difference we made to their lives during these challenging times.  
 
In 2021/22 two thirds of our tenants paid their rent in full and in time. However, there 
are some tenants who did not pay when they was able to do so and therefore we 
adapted our approach depending on whether it was a case of “can’t pay” or “won’t 
pay.”  
 
Non-payment of rent through choice will not be accepted as this is unfair on the 
majority of our tenants who try their best to make payments and have worked with 
the team during challenging times to agree an arrangement. Rent is one of the 
priority payments that should be made so if wages/benefits are used for other things 
when the rent is not being paid the team will use the Legal options available which 
could ultimately lead eviction if all other methods of rent collection has been 
exhausted  
 
In 2021/22, we evicted 3 tenants for non-payment of rent. This low number is a 
reflection not only of the Government restrictions prohibiting evictions for a period of 
time, but also our commitment to try our hardest to help our tenants to remain in their 
homes. For us eviction is always a last resort and we will always do our best to avoid 
having to take such action.  
 
If you are having difficulties paying your rent, please do let us know as soon as 
possible by contacting our Housing Income Team directly on 01474 337358. 
 
The level of rent arrears increased from £579,394 in 2019/20 to £886,761 at year-

end in 2021. The figure equates to 2.99% of the overall income expected for that 

period. However, given the challenges everyone experienced throughout 2021/22, 

the year-end position was much more positive than the initial scenarios predicted; so 

whilst an increase is never a good thing, the year-end position was considered to be 

Page 46



a positive outcome and the recovery actions were tailored to offer more support than 

ever before. 

Based on performance and the changes made to how the Housing Income Team 

work, they were awarded “Team of the Year Award” at the Kent Housing Group 

Extraordinary Awards Ceremony for 2021. This is an immensely proud moment for 

the team, and the Council as a whole, as the team were recognised by our peers as 

being worthy of an award due to the work they had carried out.  

 

Independent Living  

The last 12 months have been incredibly challenging times for everyone, including 

the Independent Living Team. This team have responsibility to all our older tenants 

living in one of our Independent Living schemes and as part of this have a 

responsibility for supporting the welfare, health, and safety of our older tenants. 

At the end of 2021, the team were completely restructured to better reflect the 

services they were providing; this included changing the name of the service from 

sheltered housing to independent living. Both the staff and our tenants have adapted 

to the new way of working and the team continue to provide support to some of our 

most vulnerable residents.  

Throughout 2021/22, our Independent Living Officers carried out 36,043 welfare calls 

to our tenants, and 1,095 health and safety checks on our schemes.  

Our Independent Living Schemes are designed for people over the age of 55 years 

old to live in a safe and welcoming environment with other people of a similar age.  

 

Tenant Engagement  

This year has seen the launch of our Tenant and Leaseholder Engagement Strategy 

and we would like to take this opportunity to thank everyone who took the time to 

respond to our survey and consultation documents to help us shape the strategy.  

Our Tenant Engagement Officers have spent a significant amount of time over the 
last 12 months supporting residents whose resident associations had disbanded as a  
result of restrictions doing the pandemic. With the support of our Engagement 
Officers many new residents associations are up in running. If you would like any 
support to set up a formal residents association or informal resident groups please 
do contact the Tenant Engagement Team at tenantengagement@gravesham.gov.uk  
 
In addition the Tenant Engagement Team have been involved in a number of events 
such as the Riverside Community Fun Day, St Patricks Garden Consultation Events, 
coffee mornings, a range of community projects and groups and administering our 
covid support fund in addition to supporting a very successful Community Payback 
scheme.  
 

Page 47

mailto:tenantengagement@gravesham.gov.uk


The work of the Tenant Engagement Team is focused on addressing key issues for 
our tenants such as combatting loneliness, digital inclusion and shaping the future 
development of the estates you live in. 
 

Housing Management - Estate Inspections 

In 2021/22 we implemented a set of programmed estate inspections for the Housing 

Services Team. This meant that our Housing Officers have increased their presence 

on our housing estates by carrying out regular estate inspections alongside any of 

our tenants that want to be involved.  

The number of homes on an estate will determine the frequency of inspections, 

these are currently: 

Size of Estate Frequency of Inspections 

Less than 20 properties Quarterly 

Between 20 – 50 properties Bi-monthly 

Over 50 properties Monthly 

 

Many of these inspections have been carried out jointly with other departments 

within the Council to help address some of the more serious issues on our estates 

such as anti-social behaviour and fly Tipping, which have led to successful 

outcomes. 

During the last 12 months, our Housing and Independent Living Officers have carried 

out approximately 318 inspections to ensure we address issues promptly and 

effectively.  

If you would like to join us for our estate inspections, you can find a list of areas, 

frequency, inspection dates and times and meeting points on our website at Estate 

inspections | Your estate – Gravesham Borough Council We would love for you to 

join us and share your views on the estates in which you live. 

 

Housing Management – Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) 

Unfortunately, there will always be that small minority that do not respect the area in 

which they live and choose to live in an anti social manner. However, we have a 0% 

tolerance approach to anti social behaviour and are committed to reducing ASB 

through preventative work, providing support to victims and communities where ASB 

is more prevalent and using enforcement powers where necessary. Our primary 

approach will be to reduce ASB by educating people to recognise the impact of their 

behaviour and where possible, making changes to the physical environment to 

‘design out’ the opportunity for ASB to occur in the first place. However, we will also 

take a robust stance on enforcement where preventative steps and interventions 

have failed to change behaviour. We will make full use of powers and tools available 

to us to tackle persistent problems and repeat offenders. 

Page 48

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/housing/your-estate/2
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/housing/your-estate/2


If you are experiencing ASB, please do let us know by contacting your Housing 

Officer so that we can tackle the issues. All contact details for our Housing Officers 

and the areas that they cover can be found here Your housing officer | Information 

for tenants – Gravesham Borough Council 

If you feel threatened, intimidated or at immediate risk please do report any incidents 

of ASB directly to the Police either by calling 101 or 999. 

 
 

Leasehold and Right to Buy (RTB) Services 

We have seen a significant increase in the number of tenants wishing to purchase 

their council home over the last 12 months. Initially the introduction of the stamp duty 

relief scheme prompted a significant rise in requests, however this trend has 

continued despite the scheme coming to an end. In 2021/22, we processed 114 

Right to Buy requests, and this resulted in 33 properties being sold under the Right 

to Buy 

For our leaseholders, the law requires us to consult before we carry out any 

qualifying works or enter into a long-term agreement for the provision of services. In 

2021/22, we carried out 111 Section 20 consultations. The reason for this is to 

protect leaseholders from paying unnecessarily large sums of money for work 

carried out to their homes. Qualifying works may include things such as window 

replacements, roof replacements and fire protection works. To ensure that we 

comply with legislation, we have carried out a significant amount of section 20 

consultations over the last 12 months, which is a reflection of our commitment to 

ensure that our tenants and leaseholders have a safe and welcoming environment to 

call home. 

 

Housing Development  

Although we are required to sell properties to our tenants if they want to exercise 

their Right to Buy, we do try to mitigate the impact of this by committing to 

developing new council housing within the Borough.  

In 2021/22, we built a total of 62 new homes, giving our existing tenants an 

opportunity to move, whilst also addressing the needs of those on our Housing 

Register.  This was 45 more than the previous year.  These homes were delivered 

across three schemes within the borough: 

Admiral Beatty House - 32 homes 

Bishops Court- 23 homes 

Constable Road- 7 homes 

 

 

Page 49

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/council-tenants-leaseholders/your-tenancy/2
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/council-tenants-leaseholders/your-tenancy/2


Repairs & Maintenance 

As a landlord, we are responsible for carrying out a range of repairs in our tenants’ 

homes to ensure they are kept in good condition. Our tenants also have obligations 

in terms of carrying out, and reporting repairs such as blocked sinks and fencing. 

The pandemic brought many challenges for the repairs service and at times created 

backlogs of work. Our dedicated and directly employed tradespeople continued to 

respond to tenants to make our homes safer and better and completed 25,603 

repairs in 2021/2022 with a customer satisfaction rate of 98%.  This was 2,000 more 

repairs than the previous financial year.  We worked hard to make sure we could 

respond to repair requests through the pandemic in line with government guide 

restrictions and safety guidance and received 30,000 calls to the repair telephone 

line. 

100% of emergency repairs were completed on time and 89% of non-emergency 

repairs were completed within the 28-day timescale. 

Active Housing was also launched on the Council’s website which is an online repair 

reporting service which allows tenants to self-appoint and manage their appointment 

in terms of cancelling and re-schedule if the appointment is no longer convenient. 

430 appointments made by tenants were missed due to tenants not being at home at 

the agreed time, and this came at a cost to the Council of £17,000.   Money which 

could have been spent on providing other services to you, our tenants. 

When someone moves out of one of our properties, we need to give our repairs 

team some time to make any necessary refurbishments, but we want to make it 

available as soon as possible to a new tenant.  

During  2021/2022, we refurbished 310 homes to bring them up to a standard where 

they can be re-let and managed to complete a minor void that only needs basic 

repairs within 9 days and a major void that needs major work such as a new kitchen 

and bathroom within 31 days.  This was an increase from 240 homes in the previous 

year. 

 

Safety and Improvement work 

As your landlord we are committed to ensuring all our tenants live in a home that is 

warm, safe and in good condition. During 2021/2022 we continued to undertake 

planned improvements to your homes which included replacing kitchens, bathrooms, 

boilers, installing new windows and doors, replacing roofs, external decorating, 

electrical testing of blocks and dwellings, LED upgrading of communal lighting and 

adaptations. 

Throughout 2021/22:  

 136 homes had new window and door installations  

 7 blocks of flats had the flat roofs completely replaced  

 17 individual houses had their roofs replaced 

Page 50



 12 blocks and 465 houses had cyclical decoration completed. This is where 

we undertake work to keep the external and internal communal areas of our 

properties in good decorative condition  

 1,127 dwellings had electrics upgraded and tested 

 48 blocks had communal electric upgraded and tested. 

We also carried out several adaptations to help give our tenants greater freedom 

within their home including; 

 53 properties had level access showers/wet rooms installed;  

 11 properties had over-bath showers;  

 31 stair-lifts were installed in properties  

 2 kitchens were adapted 

 Essential safety maintenance of systems continued as usual, such as 

passenger lifts, communal lighting, CCTV, fire alarm, sprinkler and warden 

call systems, which included216 new gas boilers Installed 

 5,700 Gas Safety Inspections completed 

 100% of our homes with a valid gas safety certificate. 

 2 Passenger Lifts Upgraded 

 

Caretaking and Grounds Maintenance 

We know a clean and tidy estate means a lot to our residents and because of this it 
is important to have clear standards as to what they can expect. We are committed 
to making sure residents have estates that are clean and cared for, safe and secure 
and in a good state of repair.  

In 2021/2022 we launched the Rate My Estate Guide which can be found on our 
website along with the Make My Estate Great Survey and we will be using this 
information to build an action plan for improvements on each site. 

Through the year, in response to the pandemic, our Caretaking team focused on 

sanitising touch points, such as communal door handles and lift panel, on all our 

estates to help keep residents safe.  

We are working to deliver the climate emergency action plan and find more 

sustainable ways of working. This includes planting wildflower meadows and 

providing green spaces for residents. Residents told us they wanted natural green 

areas with more colour, and for us to think about nature conservation and value for 

money in our environments work. We have also been working to increase habitats 

for pollinators such as butterflies and bees, in line with Royal Horticultural Society 

guidance. 

We also worked hard to deliver 5 exciting new play parks on our estates at Medhurst 

Gardens, Park Place, Warwick Place, Fountain Walk and Carl Ekman House and 

have plans for many more in the future. 

 

 

Page 51



Energy & Sustainability  

The council are committed to reducing carbon emissions and improving the energy 

performance of its homes. The decarbonisation and retrofit of these homes is 

essential for the council to reach its net zero targets.  

During 2021/2022, a number of key projects commenced which included: 

 The design and installation of Ground Source Heat Pumps to 16 Independent 

Living flats in Higham. 

 Installation of our first Air Source Heat Pump in a property previously on solid 

fuel. 

 Successfully being awarded £297,000 through the Government’s Local 

Authority Delivery Scheme Phase 2 (LAD2) funding scheme which will see 

around 130 properties benefit from a number of energy efficiency measures 

including loft and cavity insulation.  

 Successfully being awarded £823,000 through the Government’s Social 

Housing Decarbonisation Fund (SHDF) which will see 364 council homes 

receive loft and cavity wall insulation. 

 28 homes received loft and cavity wall insulation through the Energy 

Company Obligation 3 (ECO3) scheme 

 Creation of a Resident Engagement Strategy for energy efficiency retrofit 

projects. 

  

Complaints and Compliments 

There will always be things that don’t go to plan and we welcome complaints as a 

learning opportunity. Throughout 2021/22 we received 103 official complaints about 

a housing service.  Every complaint allows us to listen to our tenants, explain why we 

have made a particular decision, put things right but also understand how we can do 

things better next time. 

Of these 103 complaints 90 were resolved at stage one of our complaints process, 

10 at stage two and 3 complaints went onto stage three of the process. 

Compliments highlight areas of good practice and acknowledge the hard work and 

commitment of our staff. During the same period, we received 119 compliments. 

Thank you to all of our tenants who took the time to make contact with us to formally 

compliment a staff member or service. 

 

Watch this space 

Over the next 12 months, there are some key changes taking place within Housing 

Services. These are: 

1) A new Housing Management system – We will shortly be going live with the 

second phase of our new housing management system. For our residents, it 

will mean an improved digital offering, enabling you to carry out a range of 

Page 52



tasks online, at a time that is convenient for you. This will include things such 

as being able to update your contact and household details, request 

permission for a pet and let us know about any other issues that concern you 

at a time to suit you.  

 

2) Tenant and Leaseholder Engagement Strategy – Although the Tenant and 

Leaseholder Engagement strategy has been launched, part of that strategy 

includes a three year action plan to improve the way in which we engage with 

our residents. Over the next 12 months you will see more opportunities and a 

greater range of engagement activities being publicised to tackle the variety of 

issues that you told us were important to you.  

 

If you would like to know more about tenant and leaseholder engagement 

activities or how to get involved please do contact us at 

tenantengagement@gravesham.gov.uk  

 

 

3) Tenant and Leaseholder Handbook – throughout the next 12 months we will 

be updating our Tenant and Leaseholder handbook to ensure that it is 

relevant and contains the information that you need.  

 

4) Revamp of many of the Independent Living Schemes – during the next 12 

months many of our independent Living schemes will be redecorated and 

revamped to ensure that we are providing modern, welcoming and attractive 

communal spaces that meet the needs of our older population.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

i 

NB: Please note that all figures provided as approximate, so may slightly differ from the exact number   

                                                           

Page 53

mailto:tenantengagement@gravesham.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	6 Draft House of Multiple Occupation (HMO) Licensing Policy and Charging Structure
	Appendix 1 - Draft HMO Licencing Policy

	7 Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Two 2022-23
	Housing Portfolio - Q2 2022-23 (Appendix 1)
	Q2 2022-23
	Housing Portfolio - Q2 2022-23.pdf
	Q2 2022-23



	8 Draft Housing Management Annual Report 2021/22
	Annual Report 2022




